IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. SC11-1387

MANUEL VALLE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

DEATH WARRANT SIGNED EXECUTION SCHEDULED FOR AUGUST 2, 2011 AT 6:00 P.M.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL A. DUPREE
Capital Collateral Regional
Counsel—South

SUZANNE KEFFER Chief Assistant CCRC-South

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL—SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR MR. VALLE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of an order summarily denying Mr. Valle's successive Rule 3.851 motion. All other references are self-explanatory or otherwise explained herein.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Valle was charged by indictment dated April 13, 1978, in Dade County, Florida, with one count of first-degree murder, one count of attempted first-degree murder, and one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. His convictions and sentence were reversed by the Florida Supreme Court [hereinafter FSC] because the trial court abused its discretion in forcing Mr. Valle to trial within 24 days of the indictment. *Valle v. State*, 394 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 1981) (*Valle I*).

Mr. Valle's second trial resulted in his convictions and a sentence of death. On appeal, the FSC affirmed. *Valle v. State*, 474 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 1985) (*Valle II*). The facts adduced at trial, set out in *Valle II*, fairly represent the testimony adduced at trial. However, Mr. Valle's sentence was vacated by the Supreme Court in light of *Skipper v. South Carolina*, 476 U.S. 1 (1986). *Valle v. Florida*, 476 U.S. 1102 (1986).

On remand, the FSC vacated Mr. Valle's death sentence and remanded for a

jury resentencing in light of *Skipper*. *Valle v. State*, 502 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 1987) (*Valle III*). Mr. Valle was again sentenced to death, and the FSC affirmed. *Valle v. State*, 581 So. 2d 40 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 502 U.S. 986 (1991) (*Valle IV*).

Mr. Valle's motion for postconviction relief was summarily denied by the trial court, and the FSC affirmed in part and reversed in part, remanding for an evidentiary hearing. *Valle v. State*, 705 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 1997) (*Valle V*). Following the hearing, the trial court denied relief and the FSC affirmed. *Valle v. State*, 778 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 2001) (*Valle VI*). Two petitions for habeas corpus were later denied. *Valle v. Moore*, 837 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 2002); *Valle v. Crosby*, 859 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 2003), *cert. denied*, 541 U.S. 962 (2004).

On February 21, 2003, Mr. Valle filed his petition for habeas corpus relief. The State filed its response, and Mr. Valle filed a reply (DE #71). Mr. Valle's petition was subsequently supplemented and The State answered the supplemental claim. The district court denied the petition, and a timely Notice of Appeal was filed. The district court granted a certificate of appealability.

After briefing and oral argument, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of habeas corpus relief. *See Valle v. Sec'y. for Dep't. Of Corrections*, 459 F. 3d 1206 (11th Cir. 2006). A timely motion for rehearing and rehearing *en banc* was denied on August 11, 2007. *Valle v. Sec'y. for Dep't. Of Corrections*, 478 F. 3d 1326 (11th Cir. 2007). On October 1, 2007, the United

States Supreme Court denied certiorari review. *See Valle v. McDonough*, 552 U.S. 920 (2007).

On June 30, 2011, Governor Rick Scott signed a death warrant. Mr. Valle's execution is scheduled for August 2, 2011. This Court held a telephonic status hearing on July 1, 2011.

On Saturday, July 2, 2011, Mr. Valle filed public records demands pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852(h)(3) and 3.852(i). On Tuesday, July 5, 2011 the circuit court held a second status conference. Prior to the start of the hearing, Mr. Valle filed a motion to disqualify the judge which was denied in open court. The court announced a schedule for the proceedings in circuit court, ordering Mr. Valle to file his Rule 3.851 motion by 12:00 noon on Wednesday, July 6, 2011.

Further the court announced that there would be a hearing on Mr. Valle's public records demands that same afternoon. After hours of public records litigation, the court adjusted its scheduling order, requiring Mr. Valle to file his motion by 12:00 noon on Thursday, July 7, 2011.

On July 6, 2011, Mr. Valle filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the Florida Supreme Court. Upon order of the Florida Supreme Court, the State responded on that same date. The petition for writ of prohibition was denied.

Mr. Valle timely filed his successive postconviction motion pursuant to this court's schedule. On Sunday, June 10, 2011, Mr. Valle served a motion for leave to

amend with the amended postconviction motion attached. The State filed a response and opposed the amendment.

A case management conference was held on Monday, July 11, 2011. The circuit court agreed to consider Mr. Valle's amendment with respect to Claim II of the motion, but denied Mr. Valle's request to amend Claims III – VI. On the same day, the circuit court orally pronounced that the motions were summarily denied.

On July 13, 2011, Mr. Valle filed his motion for reconsideration and/or rehearing. The circuit court issued its final order denying relief and order denying reconsideration/rehearing on July 15, 2011. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT I: Mr. Valle was denied a full and fair postconviction proceeding where the circuit court abused its discretion in denying access to public records.

ARGUMENT II: The state of Florida's lethal injection statute and the recently certified procedure that the State of Florida intends to use to execute Mr. Valle create a substantial risk of harm in violation of the Florida Constitution, and the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. constitution.

ARGUMENT III: Mr. Valle was denied any clemency investigation, any assistance of counsel to prepare a clemency petition, and any clemency proceedings, contrary to Florida law. To execute Mr. Valle after the arbitrary

denial of a clemency proceeding, the supposed "fail safe" of our criminal justice system, would violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT IV: The arbitrary and standardless power given to Florida's Governor to sign death warrants renders the Florida capital sentencing scheme unconstitutional under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT V: The State has subjected Mr. Valle to the non-judicially imposed punishment of 33 years confinement on death row with the psychological torment of living under the ever-present shadow of death. For part of that time, the State had no means of carrying out Mr. Valle's judicially-imposed death sentence, and chose instead to punish him with an indefinite term of confinement. The punishment of 33 years on death row accounts for a portion of the punishment imposed on Mr. Valle by the State, and thus reduces the degree to which penological justifications support Mr. Valle's execution. The extent to which Mr. Valle exercising his right to direct appeal and postconviction challenges accounts for the delay in his execution is irrelevant, as he cannot be made to choose between his Eighth Amendment protections against cruel and unusual punishment and the appeal and postconviction process to which he is constitutionally entitled. The United States Supreme Court in Lackey left it to state courts, such as this Court, to

exercise their own judgment as to the Eighth Amendment principles at issue here.

Mr. Valle should not be executed while this Court defers this issue.

ARGUMENT VI: Mr. Valle was deprived of his right of consular notification under the Article 36 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. Mr. Valle was never informed of his rights under Article 36 upon his arrest and never contacted or received any assistance from the Cuban government. Had he known of his rights under Article 36, he would have availed himself of his rights and it is likely that contact with his consul would have resulted in assistance to him. To allow his execution to proceed without affording him an opportunity to litigate his claim would be a violation of due process under the Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Constitutional arguments advanced in this brief present mixed questions of fact and law. As such, this Court is required to give deference to the factual conclusions of the lower court to the extent they are supported by supported by competent and substantial evidence. The legal conclusions of the lower court are to be reviewed independently. *See Ornelas v. U.S.*, 517 U.S. 690 (1996); *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999).

A postconviction court's decision whether to grant an evidentiary hearing is subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

Because the lower court denied an evidentiary hearing, the facts presented in this appeal must be taken as true, even in a successor Rule 3.851 proceeding being considered during the pendency of a death warrant. *Lightbourne v. State*, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989); *Scott v. State*, 657 So. 2d 1129, 1132 (Fla. 1995); *Roberts v. State*, 678 So. 2d 1232, 1235 (Fla. 1996).

ARGUMENT

<u>ARGUMENT I</u>: MR. VALLE HAS BEEN DENIED ACCESS TO PUBLIC RECORDS TO WHICH HE IS ENTITLED, IN VIOLATION OF FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.852, AND FLA. STAT. § 119.

Mr. Valle sought public records pursuant to Florida Statutes Chapter 119 and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852(h)(3) and (i). See Ventura v. State, 673 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 1996); Muehleman v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 1993); Walton v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1993); Mendyk v. State, 592 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 1992); State v. Kokal, 562 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1990); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1990). This Court has ruled that collateral counsel must obtain every public record in existence regarding a capital case or else a procedural default will be assessed against the defendant. Porter v. State, 653 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied 115 S. Ct. 1816 (1995).. However, a concomitant obligation under relevant case law as well as Chapter 119 rests with the State to furnish the requested materials. Ventura v. State, 673 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 1996).

Within two days of the death warrant being signed, Mr. Valle sent demands for public records pursuant to rule 3.852(i) to the Department of Corrections, the Office of the Attorney General, the Office of the Governor, and FDLE seeking information in support of his Eighth Amendment lethal injection claim and the newly released lethal injection procedures. Specifically, Mr. Valle sought records from these agencies in an effort to obtain information including, but not limited to, the change of drugs, how the drugs are obtained, and how the new procedures will be carried out, in addition to requesting information regarding the five previous executions. The agencies raised blanket objections, as they always do, that the detailed requests were irrelevant, overly broad, and unduly burdensome. The

¹ The DOC's repeated stonewalling is best demonstrated in its failure to timely disclose the existence of new procedures. The DOC's repeated protestations that the procedure had not been changed were disingenuous, at best. Amended Motion at 13-15. Despite efforts to obtain information regarding the lethal injection procedures, the DOC played a game of hide-and-seek and refused to provide any information, all the while misleading the courts regarding the status of the procedures.

Mr. Valle has learned through public records disclosed by the Governor's Office that DOC had in fact provided the media with a copy of the new procedures as early as Februrary 1, 2011. (Attachment D and E, Amended Motion). Prior to DOC's disclosure to the media, there had been no acknowledgement that a new procedure existed. In fact, in an email, the Governor's Office acknowledged that it had instructed the DOC not to respond to media inquiries regarding switching to another lethal injection drug. (Attachment F, Amended Motion). These emails demonstrate an effort to keep any change in the procedure secret, until such time as the State felt it was necessary to have a procedure in place. None of the records received from the DOC or the Governor's Office demonstrate any ongoing research or editing between the date of the December 2010 "draft" and the June 8,

lower court found the records were irrelevant, in large part, and denied the requests, particularly with respect to records which would support those claims the court found to be insufficiently pled.

As a result of the denial of public records, the lower court concluded that Mr. Valle's allegations with respect to his lethal injection challenge were vague, speculative and conclusory.² However, the court ignores the fact that Mr. Valle cannot plead this claim more fully without access to relevant public records. The DOC and other relevant state agencies have —despite repeated requests—refused to disclose **any** records regarding a new procedure, the change in drugs, how or where the drugs came from or the previous five executions. This refusal to disclose information, and the courts' acquiescence, has prevented Mr. Valle from being able to more fully plead his claim. However, when the State's inaction in failing to

2011 procedure. Despite the fact that DOC released the procedure to the media, it continued to misrepresent to numerous courts that such procedures did not exist.

There is simply no justification for any state agency to keep the ongoing development of new execution procedures a secret. Given that DOC counsel was aware of the existence of the "draft," and had in fact disclosed the procedure to the media, the repeated argument to the contrary was a dilatory tactic. It can only be said that the final document was completed as of December 29, 2010, and DOC failed to disclose it after repeated requests to do so. The State's failure to be candid with the courts and to disclose the documents to Mr. Valle and other capital litigants was a dilatory tactic designed to ensure the State an advantage in the litigation regarding the new procedure.

² Mr. Valle maintains that he set forth sufficient facts to warrant an evidentiary hearing. See Argument II.

disclose public records results in a capital post conviction litigant's inability to fully plead claims for relief, the State is estopped from claiming that the post conviction motion should be denied or dismissed. *Ventura v. State*, 673 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 1996). ("The State cannot fail to furnish relevant information and then argue that the claim need not be heard on its merits because of an asserted procedural default that was caused by the State's failure to act"). Mr. Valle and other capital litigants have been stonewalled by the State's and the DOC's repeated objections.

In Sims v. State, 753 So. 2d 66, 72 (Fla. 2000), Justice Anstead cautioned that "We need to be very careful that we not end up with an outcome where a death-sentenced defendant, whose life may literally be affected, is barred from enforcing his constitutional right as a citizen to access to public records that any other citizen could routinely access." (Anstead, J. concurring). Yet, this is exactly what is occurring in Mr. Valle's case. Justice Anstead had earlier emphasized that "[t]rial courts must be mindful of our intention that a capital defendant's right of access to public records be recognized under this rule" because "[i]f there is any category of cases where society has an interest in seeing that all available information is disclosed, it is obviously in those cases where the ultimate penalty has been imposed." In re Amendment to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure-Capital Postconviction Pub. Records Prod., 683 So. 2d 475, 477 (Fla. 1996). Furthermore, Justice Anstead acknowledged assurances from the State and its

agencies that they will essentially follow an "open file" policy. *Id.* This promise has been not been fulfilled. Instead, these agencies have continuously shielded themselves with a harsh and unconstitutional interpretation of Fla. R. of Crim. P. Rule 3.852 to avoid turning over to capital defendants, including Mr. Valle, the information he needs to fully plead his lethal injection claim.

On July 8, 2011, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio stayed the execution of Kenneth Smith, indicating Plaintiff Smith had demonstrated substantial likelihood of proving the unconstitutionality of Ohio's method of execution practices. Cooey v. Kasich, 2011 WL 2681193 (S.D. Ohio July 8, 2011). The Court's conclusion was premised on the Ohio department of corrections policy and practice of permissible core deviations from its execution procedures or its failures with respect to the procedure altogether. Significantly, in the Ohio litigation, Mr. Smith was able to prove a substantial likelihood of success due in part to the fact that Mr. Smith and the State of Ohio engaged in meaningful disclosure of public records and meaningful discovery. Mr. Smith learned through discovery numerous details including information about the execution team members, their qualifications, which team members were involved at particular executions, the licenses and registration requirements, and which team members possess those, for receiving ordering, possessing and distributing controlled substances, and where particular execution drugs were obtained. Cooey at 5-7. Mr.

Smith was able to take testimony from numerous team members including those whose identity was protected. It is obvious from the facts set forth in the opinion, Cooey at 7-34, that Mr. Smith received documentation, logs and checklists from previous executions and training sessions, applications for membership on the execution team, team members' certifications and sign-in sheets training/rehearsal sessions, and order forms for execution chemicals. These are precisely the type of records Mr. Valle requested in his Rule 3.852(i) demands to the DOC, the FDLE, the AG and the Governor's Office and which are relevant to the claims set forth here. The opinion of the United States District Court demonstrates just how relevant these records are. See also Walker v. Humphrey, 08-V-1088 (Ga. Superior Ct. July 19, 2011) (finding that there are many facts relevant to the constitutionality of the State's execution process that it has refrained from disclosing to those who seek to challenge it and granting petitioner's request to gather further evidence relevant to this claim).

In light of the foregoing, the lower court's denial of access to public records was an abuse of discretion. Mr. Valle is challenging the method of execution and he has met the minimal requirement of establishing that the records sought are relevant, i.e., have something to do with the subject matter of lethal injection, or will lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

ARGUMENT II: THE STATE OF FLORIDA'S LETHAL INJECTION STATUTE, FLA. STAT. § 922.105, AND THE EXISTING PROCEDURE THAT THE STATE OF FLORIDA UTILIZES FOR LETHAL INJECTION VIOLATE ARTICLE II, SECTION 3 AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION

The State of Florida intends to execute Mr. Valle with a new drug being used for the first time in Florida. The Florida DOC intends to use pentobarbital to purportedly render Mr. Valle unconscious. However, pentobarbital has never been tested on human beings for the purpose of inducing an anesthetic coma. The use of pentobarbital in the lethal injection drug sequence introduces an unknown variable into an already deficient system. Alarmingly, the State of Florida is experimenting with Mr. Valle's life, just as the State of Georgia experimented with Roy Willard Blankenship's life, in what can only be called a failure.

The substitution of a new drug is not inconsequential. There are serious concerns with the DOC's choice of pentobarbital for use as an anesthetic: unlike sodium thiopental which is widely used in surgical settings, pentobarbital has never been tested on human beings for the purpose of inducing an anesthetic coma. Pentobarbital has not been FDA-approved for the induction of anesthesia, has no relevant clinical history, and has no relevant clinical reference doses by which to determine an appropriate dosage for a clinically adequate depth of anesthesia to avoid the excruciating pain caused by an injection of potassium chloride. The combination of these significant unknowns with the inadequate implementation of

procedural safeguards puts Mr. Valle at a substantial risk of serious harm.

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