#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1387

MANUEL VALLE,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

#

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

While Defendant bemoans the denial of his requests for clemency records, this Court ruled in Defendant's first post conviction appeal that he was not entitled to the records. *Valle*, 705 So. 2d at 1335. Defendant has yet to explain how this ruling was improper.

# IV. THE CLAIM REGARDING THE SIGNING OF THE WARRANT WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court improperly denied his claim that it is unconstitutional for the Governor to have discretion in determining for whom to sign a death warrant. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

This Court has already held that this claim is without merit as a matter of law:

Marek argues that Florida's clemency process, particularly the Governor's authority to sian warrants, is unconstitutional because it does not provide sufficient due process to the condemned inmate. He asserts that public records documenting that the Governor reviewed Marek's case in September 2008 without input from Marek demonstrate that he was denied due process. Marek contends that because he did not obtain the public records until April 27, 2009, he could not have raised this claim in a proceeding. However, Marek did raise this claim in his second successive postconviction proceeding. In that proceeding, Marek analogized the Governor's decision to sign his death warrant to a lottery and contended Florida's clemency process was one-sided, standardless. arbitrary, and This Court rejected Marek's challenges as meritless. See Marek, 8 So. 3d 1129-30 (rejecting constitutional challenge Florida's clemency process and declining to "secondquess" the application of the exclusive executive function of clemency). The current claim raises the same legal challenge this Court previously considered.

The April 27, 2009, public records do not affect this Court's prior decision. This Court did not dispute Marek's factual assertion that he was not informed of the Governor's request for information about him in September 2008 but, rather, decided that as a matter of law we would not "second-guess" the executive clemency process. Marek has not provided any authority holding that he must be provided notice

before a death warrant is signed or that the Governor may not sign the death warrant of an individual whose death sentence is final and who has had the benefit of a clemency proceeding. In Ohio Adult Parole Authority v. Woodard, 523 U.S. 272, 118 S. Ct. 1244, 140 L. Ed. (1998), five justices of the United States Supreme Court concluded that some minimal procedural should apply to clemency due process requirements proceedings. But none of the opinions in that case required any specific procedures or criteria to guide executive's signing of warrants for deathsentenced inmates. Accordingly, Marek has not provided any reason for this Court to depart from its prior decision.

Marek v. State, 14 So. 3d 985, 998 (Fla. 2009). Defendant's attempts to distinguish this case are disingenuous at best. As review of the brief filed in Marek show that the same claim regarding the Governor's discretion to sign a warrant were made. Initial Brief, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC09-1080, at 34-40. Additionally, Defendant's improperly asserted allegation<sup>15</sup> that the alleged constitutional infirmities in the Governor's warrant signing process is exacerbated by input from the Attorney General's Office was also raised in the Marek brief and relief was denied by this Court. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly denied this claim and should be affirmed.

#### V. THE LACKEY CLAIM WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant claims that the lower court erred in summarily denying his claim that his execution is unconstitutional because

 $<sup>^{15}</sup>$  This claim was attempted to be raised in the amended motion. The request to amend was denied by the lower court.

of the length of time he has spend on death row. However, the lower court properly denied this claim as untimely and meritless and should be affirmed.

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d), motions for post conviction relief must be filed within one year of when the defendant's conviction and sentence became final unless they are based on newly discovered evidence or a newly recognized, fundamental constitutional right that applies retroactively. Here, Defendant's claim is based on Lackey v. Texas, 514 U.S. 1045 (1995), a statement regarding the denial of a certiorari petition that was issued in 1995, and concerned an inmate who had been on death row for 17 years. As Defendant had also been on death row for 17 years in 1995, the claim cannot be said to based on either newly discovered evidence or a newly recognized constitutional right that was not available until the last year. As such, the lower court properly determined that this claim was time barred. Jimenez, 997 So. 2d at 1064 ("To be considered timely filed as newly discovered evidence, successive rule 3.851 motion was required to have been filed within one year of the date upon which the claim became discoverable through due diligence"); see also Allen v. Ornoski, 435 F.3d 946, 958 (9th Cir. 2006)(finding Lackey claim barred for failure to raise in initial habeas petition); Gardner v.

State, 234 P.3d 1115, 1143-44 (Utah 2010)(finding Lackey claim untimely, noting that "we have no doubt that any harm that Mr. Gardner alleges is endured uniquely by death-row inmates surely would have become apparent to him during his first fourteen years of incarceration."). It should be affirmed.

Moreover, this Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that a length of time a defendant has spent on death row renders his sentences unconstitutional. Tompkins, 994 So. 2d at 1085; Elledge v. State, 911 So. 2d 57, 76 (Fla. 2005); Booker v. State, 969 So. 2d 186, 200 (Fla. 2007); Gore v. State, 964 So. 2d 1257, 1276 (Fla. 2007); Lucas v. State, 841 So. 2d 380, 389 (Fla. 2003); Foster v. State, 810 So. 2d 910, 916 (Fla. 2002); see also Thompson v. Sec'y for the Dep't of Corr., 517 F.3d 1279, 1283-84 (11th Cir. 2008); White v. Johnson, 79 F.3d 432, 439 (5th Cir. 1996).

In an attempt to make it seem as if this ruling was incorrect, Defendant cites to Lackey v. Texas, 514 U.S. 1045 (1995). However, Lackey and its progeny all involve statements regarding the denial of certiorari. As the United States Supreme Court has itself stated, such statements have no precedential value. Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 296 (1989). Thus, the statement from Lackey provides no basis to overrule this Court's precedent. The claim was properly denied.

This is particularly true, as Defendant has contributed to the delay in this matter and cannot even decide whether the State has proceeded too quickly or too slowly. Defendant had his first convictions and sentences reversed because he was taken to trial too quickly. *Valle*, 394 So. 2d at 1007-09.

Moreover, Defendant's convictions and sentences have been final since 1991. The period between that time and the end of 2007 was consumed by Defendant's unsuccessful attempts to gain relief from his convictions and sentences.

In the initial, April 5, 1993 version of his first post conviction motion, Defendant complained that he had not received public records from numerous agencies, including the State Attorney's office and MDPD. (PCR-SR. 9) However, he also noted that the State Attorney had made its records available for inspection and copying in March 1993, and that State Attorney's office was in possession of MDPD's files at the time. (PCR-SR. 9 nn.2 & 3) When the first Huff hearing on this motion was held on August 4, 1993, the lower court was informed, without dispute, that after spending four days in March, Defendant had made no further attempt to review these files (PCT. 32-34) Moreover, the lower court was also informed that MDPD's files had been present and inspected with the State Attorney's files. (PCT. 40-41) However, Defendant insisted that he had requested to have the

files returned to MDPD and inspected again in March and that MDPD has acceded to this request in April, but Defendant had yet to inspect the files for a second time. (PCT. 39-40) Further, Defendant acknowledged that DOC's files had been copied but he had yet to pick up the copies because he planned to dispute a copying fee DOC had charged him. 16 (PCT. 35)

During the second Huff hearing on his first post conviction relief held on August 24, 1994, Defendant insisted that he had witnesses available to testify regarding alleged bias by the trial court at resentencing but that he should not be required to provide details about these witnesses because his allegations had to be accepted as true. (PCT. 56-65) However, after this Court remanded that claim for an evidentiary hearing, Valle, 705 So. 2d at 1334, Defendant insisted that he could not proceed with the hearing because he needed to investigate to determine who his witnesses would be and did not have funds to do so. (PCR2. 36-38) Even though the only thing that the lower court required Defendant to do before the start of the new fiscal year was to file a witness list and submit his witnesses for deposition (PCR2. 38-40), Defendant filed an extraordinary writ petition in this Court, insisting that he did not have funds to

It appears that Defendant did not actually file the suit concerning the fee until August 1994. Complaint, Leon County Case No. 94-3963-CA (2nd Jud. Cir. Aug. 18, 1994).

provide a witness list because he did not know the identity of the witnesses he had stated would be available four years earlier, which this Court granted to the extent of extending the time periods. Valle v. State, 717 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1998). Then, when the evidentiary hearing actually commenced, Defendant withdrew the claim entirely. (PCR2. 62, 152-55)

Moreover, Defendant attempted to prove that his counsel had been ineffective for presenting good prisoner evidence at resentencing by having his trial attorneys testify that they only presented the good prisoner evidence because they believed that the State would somehow be able to convince this Court to withdraw its opinion reversing the death sentence imposed after the second trial if such evidence was not presented. Valle, 778 So. 2d at 965-66. However, the State had argued that there was no reason to remand for a new sentencing hearing because "the model prisoner argument would be of no use to" Defendant at such a hearing in light of his escape attempt in the initial version of the supplemental brief it filed in this Court before the case was remanded. 17 Since this Court has already rejected the State's attempt to prevent a remand based on the inability to present the good prisoner evidence without opening the door to rebuttal about the escape, this theory was frivolous as this Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> This Court struck this portion of the State's supplemental brief on motion by Defendant.

eventually held. Valle, 778 So. 2d at 965-66.

Additionally, while Defendant complains about the time between when he concluded his federal habeas proceedings and the signing of his death warrant, this time period is also fairly attributable to the defense. Defendant concluded his initial federal habeas proceedings on October 1, 2007. Valle v. McDonough, 552 U.S. 920 (2007). At that time, the Baze and Lightbourne litigation regarding lethal injection was ongoing. Moreover, as the attachments to Defendant's motion show, there was a manufacturing problem with sodium thiopental in 2009, which Hospira planned to remedy before it decided to cease making the drug in 2011. (PCR3. 652-54) Since Defendant is even now complaining about Florida's lethal injection protocols, the last four years of delay are also fairly attributable to the defense.

Moreover, in this proceeding, Defendant has repeatedly complained that he does not have sufficient time to litigate his claims. However, as explained in response to the individual claims, with the exception of the portion of the lethal injection claim concerning pentobarbital, these claims have been available for years. Yet, he also complains that the signing of his warrant has taken too long. Given that the delay since 1991 is attributable to Defendant and Defendant's inability to decide

whether the State is proceeding too quickly or too slowly, this claim was properly denied. See Mendoza v. State, 2011 WL 2652193, \*14 (Fla. Jul. 8, 2011)(stating that this Court "does not sanction such jockeying of positions within the course of continuing litigation"). The lower court should be affirmed.

an attempt to bolster his claim, Defendant makes detailed allegations about the conditions he has allegedly endured on death row and suggests they are torture. However, Defendant made no such allegation in his motion for post conviction relief. (PCR3. 246-55) Instead, he tried to add those allegations through an amended motion and was denied leave to amend. (PCR3. 1493-94) As such, these assertions are properly before this Court. This is particularly true, as the lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing the amendment of this claim since Defendant would have been fully aware of his living conditions at all time. Lugo v. State, 2 So. 3d 1, 19-21 (Fla. 2008)(leave to amend properly denied where claim could have been raised earlier). Moreover, if Defendant truly believed his living conditions were tortuous, he could, but, apparently did not challenge the conditions of confinement through the administrative grievance and appeals process provided through the Florida Department of Corrections. See 33 FL ADC 33-103.006. The lower court should be affirmed.

#### VI. THE VIENNA CONVENTION CLAIM WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant finally asserts that the lower court erred in rejecting his claim that his rights under the Vienna Convention were violated. However, the lower court properly denied this time-barred, procedurally barred, insufficiently plead claim that Defendant lacked standing to raise.

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d), a motion for post conviction relief must be filed within one year of when a defendant's conviction and sentence became final. An exception is made for claims that are based on newly discovered evidence or a newly recognized constitutional right that has been held to apply retroactively. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(A) & (B). Here, Defendant's convictions and sentences became final on December 2, 1991, when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari after resentencing. Valle v. Florida, 502 U.S. 986 (1991). Defendant does not suggest that the Vienna Convention, which has existed since 1963, would constitute newly discovered evidence or a new constitutional right. In fact, he offers no explanation of why he could not have raised this claim earlier. Instead, he simply points to the fact that a bill has been introduced in Congress that would provide a federal remedy for alleged Vienna Convention violations and an amicus pleading filed by the federal government in a different case. However,

neither of these documents could be considered newly discovered evidence because they are not evidence at all. Moreover, these documents could not constitute a retroactive change in law under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980), because they do not constitute decisions from either the United States Supreme Court or the Florida Supreme Court. This is particularly true, as the Court has just rejected the federal government's position and denied a stay of execution based on the bill. Leal Garcia v. Texas, 2011 WL 2651245 (Jul. 7, 2011). As such, this claim does not meet either of the exceptions to the time bar. Thus, this claim was untimely and properly denied as such. Jimenez, 997 So. 2d at 1064.

Even if Defendant had raised the claim on a timely basis, the lower court would still have properly denied the claim because it is also procedurally barred and he lacks standing to raise it. This Court has held that claims regarding alleged Vienna Convention violations are procedurally barred in post conviction proceeding and that individual defendants lack standing to raise the claim. Gordon v. State, 863 So. 2d 1215, 1221 (Fla. 2003); Maharaj, 778 So. 2d at 959. In Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon, 548 U.S. 331, 360 (2006), the Court held that it was constitutional for states to bar Vienna Convention claims. As such, this claim was also procedurally barred and not

cognizable. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

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